FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON JULY 2, 2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 99943-1

Court of Appeals No. 53486-0-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES.

Petitioner,

v.

HOOD CANAL SHELLFISH COMPANY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, MARLENE IDDINGS, LINDA SLATES, LLOYD E. IDDINGS, RENEE HANOVER, and VIRGIL G. TIMMERMAN,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSEPH V. PANESKO Senior Counsel WSBA No. 25289 PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-0643 Attorneys for Petitioner Washington State Department of Natural Resources

I. INTRODUCTION

The State, through the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) and Department of Fish and Wildlife (DFW), has managed a public shellfishing beach in a cove on Dewatto Bay for decades. In 2013, members of the Iddings family who own uplands and tidelands west of the public beach began posting no trespassing signs along the public beach frontage, and they later sued DNR, claiming ownership of the entire adjacent public beach. DNR counterclaimed, and named other adjacent tideland owners because the lateral boundaries of the tidelines in the cove needed to be prorated in accordance with Spath v. Larsen, 20 Wn.2d 500, 148 P.2d 834 (1944). After the trial court granted DNR's motion and adopted DNR's survey, the Court of Appeals reversed several aspects of the trial court's ruling. But in doing so, it misinterpreted *Spath*, applied res judicata inconsistently with Supreme Court precedent, and held questions of material fact remain without analyzing whether those alleged factual questions were supported by competent evidence or materially impacted the outcome of DNR's survey. The errors by the court enable private owners to encroach on a popular public shellfish beach in a region where most accessible tidelands with healthy shellfish populations are in private ownership.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the Department of Natural Resources.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

DNR seeks review of *Hood Canal Shellfish Co. v. Department of Natural Resources*, No. 53486-0-II (filed June 2, 2021). *See* Appendix A.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 4. Did the Court of Appeals decision conflict with *Seattle-First National Bank v. Kawachi*, 91 Wn.2d 223, 588 P.2d 725 (1978), when it held DNR is barred by res judicata from challenging the western lateral boundary of Timmerman's tidelands because DNR allegedly could have raised the issue in a 1960s quiet title action that involved only superiority of title between competing claimants?
- 5. Did the Court of Appeals misinterpret *Spath* when it held DNR's survey should not have delineated the lateral boundary of the abutting uplands parcel, and ruled DNR's surveyor should have located only a "point" on the shoreline, failing to recognize that the "point" on the shoreline cannot be established without first determining the location of the upland boundary?
- 6. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing summary judgment adopting DNR's proposed survey when no party offered competent evidence raising a material question of fact disputing DNR's survey?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background.

When Washington became a state in 1889, it accepted sovereign ownership of "the beds and shores of all navigable waters." Const. art. XVII, § 1; *Davidson v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 13, 16, 802 P.2d 1374 (1991); *Bilger v. State*, 63 Wash. 457, 464-65, 116 P. 19 (1911). DNR and its predecessor entities sold many tidelands into private ownership until further sales were statutorily prohibited in 1971. RCW 79.125.200.

Dewatto Bay is a small embayment on the east shore of Hood Canal. Much of the bay was designated as an oyster reserve in 1895. CP 2517. When tidelands were designated as oyster reserves, laws expressly prohibited their sale. Laws of 1891, ch. 150, §§ 1-2. Notwithstanding this statutory prohibition, DNR inexplicably sold a tideland parcel in the bay to Mr. Murray in 1903, which parcel is now co-owned by Mr. Timmerman. That parcel lies northeast of the public beach.

The Commissioner of Public Lands vacated the Dewatto Bay oyster reserve in 1929. CP 2519. This action cleared the way for other tidelands in the bay to be sold legally. Abutting upland owners held a statutory preference right to purchase tidelands in front of their uplands, and if such owners did not exercise that right, the lands could be auctioned to the highest bidder. Laws of 1927, ch. 255, § 121; Laws of 1929, ch. 224, § 1.

DNR sold numerous tidelands to abutting upland owners along the south shore of Dewatto Bay, including a sale to Ms. Therese Reidell in 1947. The Iddings are successors to Ms. Reidell's title.² A simplified version of DNR's survey of the uplands and tidelands showing the current

¹ The Court of Appeals suggests DNR may have sold multiple parcels within the existing oyster reserve. Slip op. at 4. This statement is not supported by the record.

² The Reidell upland parcel was subdivided into two parcels, both of which are owned by members of the Iddings family. The Court of Appeals suggested Hood Canal Shellfish Company also owns an interest in "the Reidell upland parcel." Slip op. at 8. DNR does not believe this statement is supported by the record.

ownership is attached as Appendix B. The Iddings' tideland parcel lies west and south of the public beach. East and north of the Iddings' uplands is an upland parcel formerly owned by the Mason County School District, which upland parcel was exchanged to DNR in 1982. CP 2490. The public beach abuts the former school district uplands.

Both the Murray and Reidell deeds used a common method for state tideland sales, in that the legal description does not delineate the boundaries of the tidelands, beyond saying that the deeds convey tidelands "situate in front of, adjacent to or abutting upon" another descriptor. The 1903 Murray deed conveyed tidelands adjacent to a defined segment of the meander line, a federal survey line along the shoreline. CP 2496. The 1947 Reidell deed conveyed tidelands adjacent to her described uplands. CP 2502.

In the 1960s, Florence Margett, a successor to the Murray tidelands, initiated a quiet title action over the tideland parcel. CP 2119-27. Margett named DNR as the original seller of the Murray parcel, because DNR took the position that the 1903 deed was ultra vires and that the State still held title to the parcel. CP 2130. The parties ultimately settled their claims with one of the defendants, Robert Hemphill, who paid DNR \$1000 to quitclaim the Murray parcel to him, and paid other individuals including Margett to yield their interests. CP 2133-37. None of the *Margett* litigation documents in the record suggest the case raised any questions about where the parcel

boundaries were located, nor is there evidence any land survey was conducted as part of the case. CP 2119-41.

From at least the 1970s onward, DNR and DFW continuously and actively managed the public shellfish beach. CP 3446-47. The beach, under the name "West Dewatto: DNR Beach 44A," appears in a DFW regulation regarding clam harvests. *See* WAC 220-330-110(125). Although evidence suggests DNR may have marked the lateral boundaries of the public beach in 1975 and advertised it in a public brochure, CP 2426-31; 2433, no declarant or surveyor was able to locate current evidence or locations of those lost 1975 markers.

In 2013, members of the Iddings family began posting "no trespassing" signs along the shoreline of the public beach. After being confronted by DNR, the family formed the Hood Canal Shellfish Co., transferred most of their tideland ownership interests to the company, and sued DNR in 2015 claiming title to the entire public beach, up to and wrapping around the western edge of the Timmerman tideland parcel.

DNR hired an outside surveyor who determined that West Dewatto formed a prominent cove shaped very much like Sequim Bay, which was the subject of tideland boundary litigation in *Spath*. *Spath* ruled that when the lateral boundaries of tidelands are not specifically delineated in the deed and the shoreline is curved, the lateral boundaries need to be angled

proportionately using a method called "proration." *Spath*, 20 Wn.2d at 524-25. DNR's surveyor surveyed the Iddings and Timmerman parcels and prorated the lateral boundaries of all the parcels. CP 2554-55. The surveyors for both the Iddings and Timmerman rejected application of proration to their clients' tidelands, and both claimed no State ownership existed between their parcels. CP 147; CP 723-24.

B. Proceedings Below.

Multiple parties filed competing partial motions for summary judgment to resolve the boundary disputes. The record spanned over 3000 pages of material and 63 filed pleadings. CP 2161. Arguments filled an entire day. The trial court granted DNR's motion for summary judgment, finding *Spath* controlled the resolution of the lateral boundary disputes, and adopted DNR's survey. CP 2156-62; 2175-76.

The Iddings and Timmerman filed an interlocutory appeal.³ The Court of Appeals affirmed application of *Spath*, but found that Timmerman's western lateral boundary had been fixed through res judicata by the 1960s *Margett* litigation, that DNR's surveyor should not have delineated an upland lateral boundary of the Iddings parcel, and that questions of fact remained as to the correctness of the State's survey.

 $^{^3}$ The competing tideland claimants have unresolved trespass and damages claims against each other, depending on who prevails on title.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. The Court of Appeals conflicts with Supreme Court res judicata precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The superior court considered and rejected Timmerman's res judicata and collateral estoppel arguments, and found that DNR's survey properly prorated the lateral boundaries of all the tideland parcels in the cove, including Timmerman's. CP 2161. The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that the 1960s *Margett* litigation—which involved only superiority of title and did not involve any boundary claims or surveys—thereafter "fixed" the undesignated lateral boundary and precluded DNR from applying proration to Timmerman's boundary. The court's holding forces DNR to accept Timmerman's new 2018 survey as a matter of res judicata. Indeed, under the Court of Appeals' application of res judicata, Timmerman's surveyor could have seemingly drawn the lateral boundary in *any fashion whatsoever*, and DNR would be forced to accept it without challenge. But this holding directly conflicts with *Kawachi*.

Some courts, as the Court of Appeals did here, have suggested that res judicata precludes re-trying issues "that 'could have' or 'might have' been asserted in earlier litigation, as if that simpler criterion can substitute for the four required identities." Fortson-Kemmerer v. Allstate Ins. Co.,

198 Wn. App. 387, 393, 393 P.3d 849 (2017). This Court rejected this oversimplification over 40 years ago in *Kawachi*, which explained in detail:

While it is often said that a judgment is res judicata of every matter which could and should have been litigated in the action, this statement must not be understood to mean that a plaintiff must join every cause of action which is joinable when he brings a suit against a given defendant. CR 18(a) permits joinder of claims. It does not require such joinder. And the rule is universal that a judgment upon one cause of action does not bar suit upon another cause which is independent of the cause which was adjudicated. 50 C.J.S. Judgments s 668 (1947); 46 Am.Jur.2d Judgments s 404 (1969). A judgment is res judicata as to every question which was properly a part of the matter in controversy, but it does not bar litigation of claims which were not in fact adjudicated.

Kawachi, 91 Wn.2d at 226 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals below applied res judicata in the exact manner that *Kawachi* said it should *not* be.

To help determine whether an issue was properly part of an earlier matter, courts have long examined the "concurrence of identity" of the four factors "(1) of subject-matter; (2) of cause of action; (3) of persons and parties; and (4) in the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made." *Weaver v. City of Everett*, 194 Wn.2d 464, 480, 450 P.3d 177 (2019) (quoting *N. Pac. Ry. Co. v. Snohomish Cty.*, 101 Wash. 686, 688, 172 P. 878 (1918)). The party asserting res judicata carries the burden of proof, and appellate review of the issue is de novo. *Fortson-Kemmerer*, 198

Wn. App. at 393. The third and fourth elements are met here. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that Timmerman proved the first and second issues.

1. The causes of action are not identical.

Washington courts apply the following four factors to determine whether two causes of action are identical:

(1) [W]hether rights or interests established in the prior judgment would be destroyed or impaired by prosecution of the second action; (2) whether substantially the same evidence is presented in the two actions; (3) whether the two suits involve infringement of the same right; and (4) whether the two suits arise out of the same transactional nucleus of facts.

Rains v. State, 100 Wn.2d 660, 664, 674 P.2d 165 (1983) (alterations in original, internal quotations omitted). None of these factors are met here.

First, Timmerman's superiority of title (the subject of *Margett*) is not destroyed or impaired by determining where the sideline lateral boundary of his tidelands should be located on the beach. Designating the lateral boundary on the beach does not alter a single word in Timmerman's deed. Second, the evidence presented in the two actions is not substantially the same: In *Margett*, the evidence referenced in the complaint consisted of claims to deeds by various real estate transactions. CP 2119-27. In the present case, the evidence consists primarily of recently conducted land surveys. Third, the two suits do not involve infringement of the same right: In *Margett*, the right in question was the validity of real property deeds

amongst multiple potential competing claimants, while in the present action the question is how to delineate the lateral boundary of the tideland parcels between multiple adjoining tideland owners in a cove where that lateral boundary is not specified in the legal description of the deeds. And fourth, the two suits do not arise out of the same transactional nucleus of facts: In *Margett*, the transactional nucleus of facts consisted of the chain of title to multiple parcels, and which claimants had the strongest claim of ownership to those parcels based upon various transactions. In the present case, the transactional nucleus of facts consists of a boundary dispute between adjacent tideland owners in a cove, resolved by applying *Spath* and prorating the lateral boundaries in a land survey.

2. The subject matter is not the same because *Margett* did not involve any boundary dispute.

The Court of Appeals primarily cited and relied upon one case, *Karlberg v. Otten*, 167 Wn. App. 522, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012), to support its claim that *Margett* involved the same matter. *Karlberg* has no comparison to the current litigation. In *Karlberg*, a landowner whose fence encroached about 82 feet onto a neighbor's property claimed adverse possession, but expressly limited its claim to just the first 45 feet towards the fence. After trial, the judge found that the claimant had established adverse possession to the full 82-foot area, but limited relief to the first 45 feet, as requested by

the claimant. *Karlberg*, 167 Wn. App. at 527. The claimant then initiated a second action seeking to quiet title to the remainder of the 82 feet. *Id.* at 534. *Karlberg* held, "[w]here judgment in the first action determines the boundary line between two adjoining properties, the judgment is preclusive of future attempts to move the boundary line in one direction or another." *Id.* at 539-40.

Karlberg does not support the Court of Appeals here because *Margett* did not address the lateral boundary of Timmerman's tideland against the adjacent public beach, or any boundary question whatsoever. DNR does not seek to alter the legal description of Timmerman's property that was quieted in *Margett*, but seeks to locate a lateral tideland boundary that is not articulated in Timmerman's deed.

3. The subject matter is also not the same because the lateral boundary dispute was not ripe in the 1960s.

No evidence in the record suggests that Timmerman's predecessors had ever attempted to mark the western lateral boundary of their tidelands against the adjacent public beach at the location proposed in Timmerman's December 2018 survey. As a result, no dispute existed in the 1960s over an unmarked boundary, and DNR had no basis to raise the claim. When an issue is not ripe during an earlier litigation, the subject matter of the cases differ and res judicata does not apply. *Weaver*, 194 Wn.2d at 481.

In conclusion, the Court of Appeals erred by holding that DNR "had the opportunity to litigate" the lateral boundary issue in *Margett*, and is thus precluded by res judicata from questioning Timmerman's 2018 survey. Its holding conflicts with the express admonition in *Kawachi* that courts should not apply res judicata to ban every possible cause of action that is "joinable," but not identical. *Margett* did not address how to draw the property boundaries, and the lateral boundary dispute was unripe. As a result, the Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with *Weaver*. By applying res judicata, the court precludes *Spath* from applying to Timmerman's western boundary, causing inconsistencies in how the tideland boundaries in the cove get equitably prorated.

B. The Court of Appeals conflicts with *Spath* when it held DNR's surveyor should not have established the upland lateral boundary. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The superior court granted DNR summary judgment as to its survey of the tideland boundaries in the cove, which survey necessarily included delineation of the Iddings' upland boundaries. Because the Reidell tidelands are legally described as "in front of, adjacent to or abutting upon" Reidell's uplands, the lateral boundaries of those uplands must first be established, because the end points where those lateral upland boundaries intersect the shoreline become the starting points for drawing the lateral boundaries of the tidelands. If the lateral upland boundaries are not first properly

established, then the lateral tideland boundaries could not be properly delineated. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court erred in adopting the upland boundary in DNR's survey for two reasons, which conflicts with *Spath* about how to apply proration, and with *Ferrin v. Donnellefeld*, 74 Wn.2d 283, 444 P.2d 701 (1968), regarding whether DNR properly raised the boundary issue below.

1. DNR properly raised the upland boundary issue in its pleadings filed in summary judgment.

The Court of Appeals concluded DNR did not seek to quite title to the upland boundary, and held that an argument not raised in a pleading is not before the trial court CR 56(c). Slip op. at 30 (citing Ferrin, 74 Wn.2d at 285). But this statement conflicts with the language in Ferrin and is further contradicted by the record. In Ferrin, a party raised a new issue for the first time on appeal of an adverse summary judgment, and the court found the argument had not been properly "raised in the pleadings, depositions or affidavits submitted to the trial court on the motion for summary judgment." Ferrin, 74 Wn.2d at 285 (emphasis added). Here, however, DNR did raise this issue in its summary judgment pleadings.

DNR did not seek to quiet title to the upland boundary in its answer to the Iddings' complaint because DNR did not know the Iddings were claiming to own a portion of DNR's adjacent uplands. CP 1-22. At the time

the Iddings first sued, they supplied a survey from 2014 showing only one disputed tideland boundary line, and not showing the eastern lateral boundary of the upland property. CP 86.

DNR's surveyor, following *Spath*, surveyed the upland boundaries of the Iddings' parcel after reviewing the upland deed and submitting a final survey in 2016. CP 2542, 2554-55, 2561-75. DNR had no need to amend its answer to the lawsuit at that time, because it believed its surveyor properly delineated the upland boundary, and DNR was still not aware of a competing claim from the Iddings. The Iddings first raised the upland boundary dispute in August 2017, when their surveyor provided a new survey drawing the lateral upland boundary for the first time. CP 147-49.

Once the Iddings asserted a contrary upland boundary in 2017, the parties had a thorough opportunity to conduct discovery and depose each other's surveyors about both the tideland *and upland boundaries*. The parties then filed competing cross-motions for summary judgment in early 2019, and they briefed the upland boundary issue, supported with declarations and excerpts of depositions. DNR expressly sought to resolve the upland boundary dispute in its summary judgment pleadings, to which the Iddings replied. CP 3451 (DNR Motion, Statement of Issues, "#4. Whether the survey . . . accurately establishes the upland boundary between the School Property and the L. Iddings Property."); CP 3463-68

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