FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/2/2021 2:04 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 99943-1

Court of Appeals No. 53486-0-II

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, Petitioner,

v.

HOOD CANAL SHELLFISH COMPANY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, MARLENE IDDINGS, LINDA SLATES, LLOYD E. IDDINGS, RENEE HANOVER, and VIRGIL G. TIMMERMAN,

Respondents,

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Duncan M. Greene, WSBA No. 36718 Dale N. Johnson, WSBA No. 26629 Charlene Koski, WSBA No. 43178

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

The only ground on which DNR seeks review is RAP 13.4(b)(1). Under that Rule, this Court accepts a petition for review only if "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1). The petitioner must persuade this Court that RAP 13.4(b)(1) has been satisfied. *Id.*; *see also In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 132-33, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

# B. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Conflict with Seattle-First National Bank v. Kawachi

"The need for finality when actions are settled is safeguarded by res judicata." *Schoeman v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 855, 862, 726 P.2d 1 (1986). Res judicata, or claim preclusion, "is a judicially created doctrine designed to prevent relitigation and to curtail multiplicity of actions by parties, participants or privies who have had an opportunity to litigate the same matter in a former action in a court of competent jurisdiction." *Karlberg v. Otten*, 167 Wn. App. 522, 535, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012).

DNR contends that for res judicata to apply, the question at issue must have been specifically litigated in the prior proceeding and that any other result conflicts with this Court's precedent. Petition at 7-10. According to DNR, because the parties in *Margett* did not dispute the location of the lateral boundary, res judicata is inapplicable. Petition at 7-8. This argument lacks merit and is simply DNR's attempt to recast its disagreement with the conclusion of the Court of Appeals as something worthy of review under RAP 13.4(b). There is no conflict with *Kawachi* and DNR's position is incorrect.

This Court has repeatedly recognized that "res judicata acts to prevent litigation of claims that were *or should have been* decided among

the parties in an earlier proceeding." *Golden v. McGill*, 3 Wn.2d 708, 720, 102 P.2d 219 (1940) (emphasis added); *see also Schoeman v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 855, 859, 726 P.2d 1 (1986) (same); *Sanwick v. Puget Sound Title Ins. Co.*, 70 Wn.2d 438, 441-42, 423 P.2d 624 (1967) ("This court from early years has dismissed a subsequent action on the basis that the relief sought *could have and should have* been determined in a prior action") (emphasis added); *see also Kelly-Hanson v. Kelly-Hansen*, 87 Wn. App. 320, 329 n.22, 941 P.2d 1108 (1997) (citing more than twenty cases).

Even when every issue in a subsequent case is not identical to the prior case, when "the causes of action are the same the rule applies, not only to questions presented, but to all matters which rightfully belong to the litigation which the parties could, by exercising reasonable diligence, have presented at the trial." *Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Davis*, 2 Wn.2d 155, 161, 97 P.2d 686 (1940); *see also Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41 n.7, 123 P.3d 844 (2005) (same); *In re Estate of Black*, 153 Wn.2d 152, 170, 102 P.3d 796 (2004) (same) (citing cases); *DeYoung v. Cenex Ltd.*, 100 Wn. App. 885, 891-92, 1 P.3d 587 (2000) (same). In Washington, "res judicata applies, except in special cases, not only to points upon which the court was actually required by the parties to form an opinion and pronounce a judgment, but to every point which properly belonged to

the subject of the litigation, and which the parties, exercising reasonable diligence, might have brought forward at the time." *Witte v. Old Nat. Bank of Spokane*, 29 Wn.2d 704, 708-09, 189 P.2d 250 (1948) (quoting *Sayward v. Thayer*, 9 Wn.22, 36 P.966 (1894) (citing cases).

To determine whether a point "properly belonged" to the subject of the prior litigation, courts consider whether there is "concurrence of identity" in four respects: (1) subject matter; (2) cause of action; (3) persons and parties; and (4) in the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made. Forston-Kemmerer v. Allstate Insurance Co., 198 Wn. App. 387, 393, 393 P.3d 849 (2017). Only the first two factors subject matter and cause of action—are at issue here. Considering them, the Court of Appeals reasoned that because both the *Margett* litigation and this litigation involve a quiet title action between the same parties over the same tidelands, concurrence of identity existed, and res judicata applied. The Court noted that, while DNR claimed Margett did not involve a dispute as to the western lateral boundary, the Margett Stipulation and Order defined the Murray Tidelands, including its boundaries. Petition Appendix A at 20. DNR could have disputed those boundaries and argued for application of Spath but did not. Id. The Court's analysis is consistent with this Court's precedent.

DNR accuses the Court of Appeals of "oversimplification" and

suggests it applied res judicata simply because the western boundary could have been litigated previously, without considering whether the four "identity" considerations were satisfied, Petition at 7-8, but the Court of Appeals expressly cited all four factors and properly considered them. Petition Appendix A at 20.

DNR also suggests that under *Kawachi*, the specific question of the western boundary must have been litigated for res judicata to apply. But that is not the holding of Kawachi. In Kawachi, this Court considered whether res judicata barred "independent claims, arising out of separate transactions" involving two separate instruments negotiated at different times when the claims could have been joined and litigated together. Id. at 227-28. *Kawachi* noted that a plaintiff is not required to join every cause of action that is joinable when he brings a suit against a given defendant, and that a judgment in one cause of action "does not bar suit upon another cause which is independent of the cause which was adjudicated." Kawachi, 91 Wn. at 727. Kawachi recognized the limits of res judicata and distinguished it from collateral estoppel, which applies to issues actually litigated, but Kawachi did not alter the state of the law. It is still the case that res judicata applies "to matters actually litigated and those that could and should have been raised in the prior proceeding." In re Estate of Black, 153 Wn.2d at 170 (citing Kawachi and DeYoung, 100 Wn. App. at 891-92). *Kawachi* recognized that res judicata does not bar *claims* that were never adjudicated, but does bar "every *question* which was properly a part of the matter in controversy." *Kawachi*, 91 Wn.2d at 226 (emphasis added).

Under *Kawachi* and this Court's precedent, the western lateral boundary of the Murray Tidelands is a question that was properly part of the quiet title controversy with DNR. Res judicata applies to what might or should have been litigated, as well as to what was actually litigated, if part of the same claim or cause of action. *See* Philip A. Trautman, *Claim and Issue Preclusion in Civil Litigation in Washington*, 60 Wash. L. Rev. 805 at 813-14 (1985) (hereafter Trautman, *Claim and Issue Preclusion*) (summarizing Washington law, including *Kawachi*); *see also In re Estate of Black*, 153 Wn.2d at 170 (same). In this case, both lawsuits involve claims for quiet title *of the same land*, and that parcel's boundaries were set in the first lawsuit. Thus, contrary to DNR's contention, there is no conflict between *Kawachi* and the Court of Appeals' decision.

# C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that Res Judicata Bars DNR's Claims Against the Murray Tidelands

DNR also argues that the Court of Appeals erred in its application of the four "identity" factors. Because DNR's disagreement with the analysis of the Court of Appeals is insufficient to warrant review under

RAP 13.4(b), this Court need not consider its arguments on this point. Nevertheless, those arguments lack merit.

As noted above, DNR concedes that this case satisfies the third and fourth identity considerations—the parties are identical, as is the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made. DNR only argues, as it did before the Court of Appeals, that the causes of action and subject matter are not the same. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected these arguments.

## 1. The Causes of Action are Identical

When considering whether causes of action are identical for purposes of res judicata, courts generally consider (1) whether rights or interests established in the prior judgment would be destroyed or impaired by prosecution of the second action; (2) whether substantially the same evidence is presented in the two actions; (3) whether the two suits involve infringement of the same right; and (4) whether the two suits arise out of the same transactional nucleus of facts. *DeYoung*, 100 Wn. App. at 892. There is no specific test, however, and all four factors need not be present. *Ensley v. Pitcher*, 152 Wn. App. 891, 903, 222 P.3d 99 (2009).

DNR claims the causes of action are not identical because the current litigation would not destroy or impair Mr. Timmerman's title. This ignores that both actions are for quiet title to a portion of the Murray

Tidelands. In its Third-Party Complaint, DNR acknowledged that it was joining Mr. Timmerman because he is a landowner "whose property interest will be affected by the action." CP at 2. DNR cannot have it both ways — joining Mr. Timmerman in the lawsuit based on his affected property interests and then claiming in its briefing before this Court that its lawsuit will not affect those interests. If DNR succeeds in its quiet title action, Mr. Timmerman will lose a portion of the tidelands he currently owns, thus destroying and impairing the very property interest secured in the *Margett* litigation. DNR also ignores that in the *Margett* litigation, it waived and relinquished any claim of ownership interest it may have had in the Murray Tidelands. Its current claim that it owns a portion of those tidelands is in direct contradiction to that waiver and, if allowed to go forward, would destroy and impair the rights and interests it established.

This lawsuit and the *Margett* litigation also concern substantially the same evidence, which largely consists of the chain of title for the Murray Tidelands and other related public records, along with the legal descriptions contained therein. Both lawsuits concern infringement of the same right: whether DNR has any right, title, or interest in any portion of the Murray Tidelands. Both lawsuits also arise out of the same nucleus of facts – to determine the lawful ownership of the Murray Tidelands based on the legal descriptions and conveyances of those tidelands.

DNR attempts to distinguish the *Margett* litigation on grounds it concerned validity of title, whereas this case concerns the location of the lateral boundary, but that distinction is immaterial. Res judicata bars a party from using a different theory to avoid the preclusive effect of a prior judgment. *See* Trautman, *Claim and Issue Preclusion* at 815 (citing cases and noting that a mere change in theory does not represent a different claim or cause of action, and the availability of alternative remedies does not create several separate claims). DNR cannot void the results of the *Margett* litigation by suing fifty years later on a legal theory (equitable apportionment) that it could have advanced at the time.

DNR claims it is only seeking to establish a western lateral boundary, but the boundaries to the Murray Tidelands have been set for more than fifty years. An action to quiet title is an equitable proceeding "designed to resolve competing claims or ownership" to property. *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 176 Wn. App. 475, 502, 309 P.3d 636 (2013). The entire purpose is to quiet title to real property in the holder of superior title. *See* RCW 7.28.120. Determining who owns a certain parcel of land necessarily requires defining that land. To that end, the Stipulation and Order in the *Margett* litigation contained a legal description of the Murray Tidelands. That description is sufficient to locate the lateral boundaries, as the Winters, Thalacker, and Wilson surveys demonstrate. The causes of

action are identical.

### 2. The Subject Matter is Identical

DNR argues the subject matter in the two lawsuits is not identical because Margett did not involve a boundary dispute. Petition at 10. As noted above, DNR's attempt to distinguish the Margett litigation on this ground fails. The *Margett* litigation determined ownership of the Murray Tidelands and the Stipulation and Order provided a legal description of those tidelands. DNR did not object to that description, but it could have. Spath v. Larsen, which DNR now claims applies, had already been decided. Had DNR exercised reasonable diligence in 1966, it could have argued that the boundaries of the Murray Tidelands should be defined through proration. DNR made no such argument. To the contrary, it stipulated to the legal description contained in the deed and waived "any and all claims it may have to the" Murray Tidelands. CP 770. DNR's attempt, more than a half century later, to claim ownership in those tidelands is exactly the type of injustice the doctrine of res judicata seeks to avoid.

DNR also claims the Court of Appeals erred when it relied on *Karlberg v. Otten*, 167 Wn. App. 522, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012), but the Court of Appeals correctly applied *Karlberg*. That case involved two successive judgments quieting title. In the first action, *Karlberg* sought and obtained

a judgment placing a new boundary line between his property and the defendant's property. In the second, he sought and obtained a judgment establishing a different boundary line for the same property. The court held that res judicata barred the second lawsuit. The court quoted the general rule that when an action is "brought for part of a claim, a judgment obtained in the action precludes the plaintiff from bringing a second action for the residue of the claim," and noted that "commencement of a new and independent action upon the same subject matter is not an approved way to correct a mistake." *Karlberg*, 167 Wn. at 535, 538. Because the first quiet title action related to defining the same property at issue in the second, res judicata applied.

DNR argues *Karlberg* is distinguishable because both lawsuits in that case involved a boundary dispute, but that misses the point. Both the *Margett* litigation and this case concern the extent of DNR's ownership interest in the Murray Tidelands. The boundaries were set in the first lawsuit and DNR seeks to change them in this lawsuit. Res judicata bars such attempts.

DNR is also wrong that this result allows Timmerman to draw the lateral boundary in "any fashion whatsoever." Petition at 7. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, under the laws in effect in 1903, the Murray Tidelands extended to mean low tide and the lateral boundaries were

determined using the angles and limiting points listed in the deed along the meander line, and by extending perpendicular lines from those limiting points to the waterward limit. Petition Appendix A at 21; Laws of 1897, ch. 89, § 4. The boundaries of the Murray Tidelands were set in the deed and confirmed in the *Margett* litigation, and multiple surveys—including one commissioned by DNR in 1992—have now used that legal description to identify the lateral boundaries. CP 2043, 2058, 2133-37, 3545, 2087-88. *Karlberg* is informative, and the Court of Appeals did not err in considering it.

DNR's claim that the lateral boundary dispute was not "ripe" in the 1960s fails for the same reasons its other claims fail. DNR accepted the boundaries as set in the Order and Stipulation. That DNR failed to raise the issue does not mean the matter was unripe for review. A matter is ripe "when 'the issues raised are primarily legal, and do not require further factual development." *Thun v. City of Bonney Lake*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 453, 460, 416 P.3d 748 (2018) (quoting *Jafar v. Webb*, 177 Wn.2d 520, 525, 303 P.3d 1042 (2013)). The proration doctrine was in effect during the *Margett* litigation and *Spath* had already been decided. If DNR had wanted to challenge the legal description of the property to which it sought quiet title, it could have done so. DNR may not seek to quiet title in the same parcel of land fifty years later in an attempt to correct its mistake.

## D. The Doctrines of Waiver, Laches, and Equitable Estoppel Also Bar DNR's Claim in the Murray Tidelands

Although the Court of Appeals did not reach Mr. Timmerman's arguments regarding alternative grounds for relief, if this Court grants DNR's petition for review, it may also affirm the Court of Appeals on grounds of waiver, laches, or equitable estoppel. *See* RAP 13.4(d); *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group*, LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 73, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014) ("an appellate court may affirm a decision on any ground supported by the record.").<sup>3</sup>

#### 1. Waiver Bars DNR's Claims

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